
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Norfolk Division 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

JTH TAX, INC. d/b/a LIBERTY TAX SERVICE 
and SIEMPRETAX, LLC, 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

GREGORY AIME; WOLF VENTURES, INC. 
d/b/a WOLF ENTERPRISES; AIME 
CONSULTING, LLC; and AIME 
CONSULTING, INC., 

Defendants. 
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Case No: 2:16-cv-279 (HCM) 

AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x

Plaintiffs JTH Tax, Inc. d/b/a Liberty Tax Service (“JTH”) and SiempreTax, LLC 

(“SiempreTax”) (collectively, “Liberty”) allege for their Amended Complaint against Defendants 

Gregory Aime (“Aime”), Wolf Ventures, Inc. d/b/a Wolf Enterprises (“Wolf”), Aime 

Consulting, LLC, and Aime Consulting, Inc. (collectively, “Defendants”) as follows:  

PARTIES 

1. JTH is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business at 1716 

Corporate Landing Parkway, Virginia Beach, VA 23454. 

2. SiempreTax is a Virginia limited liability company with a principal place of 

business at 1716 Corporate Landing Parkway, Virginia Beach, VA 23454.  The sole member of 

SiempreTax is Liberty Tax, Inc., a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business at 

1716 Corporate Landing Parkway, Virginia Beach, VA 23454.   

3. Aime is an individual who, upon information and belief, currently is domiciled in 

the State of New York, with a residence at 90-28 214th Street, Queens Village, Queens, NY 
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11428. 

4. Wolf is a New York corporation with a principal place of business at 13412 Guy 

R. Brewer Blvd., Jamaica, NY 11434. 

5. Aime Consulting, LLC is a New York limited liability company with a principal 

place of business at 13412 Guy R. Brewer Blvd., Jamaica, NY 11434.  Upon information and 

belief, Aime is the sole member of Aime Consulting, LLC, which is the lessee for one or more of 

the franchise locations at issue in this litigation.   

6. Aime Consulting, Inc. is a New York corporation with a principal place of 

business at 13412 Guy R. Brewer Blvd., Jamaica, NY 11434.  Upon information and belief, 

Aime is the sole shareholder of Aime Consulting, Inc., which is the lessee for one or more of the 

franchise locations at issue in this litigation.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Aime because he entered into nine (9) 

valid and enforceable franchise agreements for the ownership and/or operation of six Liberty and 

three SiempreTax franchise locations (the “Franchise Agreements,” true and accurate copies of 

which are annexed hereto as Exhibits A through I).  Each of the Franchise Agreements contains 

a mandatory choice of law provision, requiring that “Virginia law governs all claims that in any 

way relate to or arise out of any dispute whatsoever regarding the Agreements or any of the 

dealings of the parties hereto.”  Franchise Agreements, Section 17(a).  Each of the Franchise 

Agreements also contains a mandatory forum selection clause requiring that any lawsuit 

regarding the Franchise Agreement or “any of the dealings of the parties hereto…shall be proper 

only in the…U.S. District Court in Norfolk, Virginia.”  Franchise Agreements, Section 17(b).   

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Wolf because it entered into an 
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Assignment and Amendment to Franchise Agreements by and between Wolf, Aime, and Liberty, 

rendering Wolf the amended franchisee for each of the nine (9) Franchise Agreements, with 

Aime remaining an personal guarantor for the rights and obligations set forth in the Franchise 

Agreements (the “Assignment Agreement”, a true and accurate copy of which is annexed hereto 

as Exhibit J).    

9. In addition to the Assignment Agreement, Wolf and Aime entered into an 

Accounts and Notes Receivable Guaranty Agreement, wherein they collectively agreed to repay 

all monies due and owing to Liberty, including over One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) owed to 

Liberty (the “Guaranty Agreement”, a true and accurate copy of which is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit K).  The Guaranty Agreement also contains a mandatory forum selection clause 

requiring any lawsuit concerning the Guaranty Agreement to be filed in this Court.  

10. Additionally, Aime and Wolf entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the 

“Purchase and Sale Agreement”, a true and accurate copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit 

L) with Liberty that contains a choice of law and “consent to jurisdiction” clause in favor of 

Virginia and, therefore, are subject to the jurisdiction of a court of general jurisdiction in the 

State of Virginia, where the United States District Court, Eastern District of Virginia is located.  

The Purchase and Sale Agreement was executed by Liberty in the State of Virginia.  See Burger 

King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462 (1984); Hardees Food Sys., Inc. v. Beardmore, 169, 

F.R.D. 311 (E.D.N.C. 1996).  Moreover, Wolf has sufficient contacts with the State of Virginia 

to be subject to personal jurisdiction in this District because it had a substantial and continuing 

relationship with Liberty’s headquarters in Virginia Beach, Virginia, including the submission of 

regular reports, transmission of funds and other regular written and verbal communications, such 

that personal jurisdiction over Wolf is proper.  As consideration for the Purchase and Sale 
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Agreement, Liberty agreed, inter alia, to forgive Aime’s and Wolf’s over One Million Dollars 

($1,000,000) debt to Liberty. 

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Aime Consulting, LLC and Aime 

Consulting, Inc. because the entities are lessees that entered into one or more leases in 

connection with Aime’s and Wolf’s ownership and operation of multiple Franchise Locations.  

These entities are, upon information and belief, 100% owned and controlled by Aime, are the 

alter-ego of Aime, are the lessees of several of Aime’s Liberty franchise locations, and are 

subject to the termination and post-termination obligations of the Franchise Agreements.  

Defendant Lessees are indispensable parties, as the Court cannot accord complete relief without 

including them as parties to this litigation.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Lessees have 

improperly held themselves out to be Liberty franchisees, have co-mingled franchisee funds, 

have disregarded corporate formalities, and are undercapitalized so as to constitute sham 

corporate entities, allowing the corporate veil to be pierced, and allowing any obligation of these 

entities to be attributed to Aime.  Additionally, the entities have sufficient contacts with the 

Commonwealth of Virginia to be subject to personal jurisdiction in this District because each had 

a substantial and continuing relationship with Liberty’s headquarters in Virginia Beach, VA.  

Joinder of these parties will not deprive the Court of subject-matter jurisdiction.   

12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 and § 1367, as Liberty asserts federal Lanham Act claims pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1114 and 

§ 1125, and all other claims asserted arise out of the same alleged breaches by all Defendants. 

13. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332 because complete diversity of citizenship exists between Liberty (Virginia entities) and 

Defendants (New York individuals and entities), and the amount in controversy exceeds the sum 
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of $75,000, including the valuation of Liberty’s equitable claims which are measured by the 

value of the object of the litigation, exclusive of interest and costs.  Additionally, upon 

information and belief, Defendant Lessees do not have any members or owners that are residents 

of the Commonwealth of Virginia.   

14. This action is properly venued in the Eastern District of Virginia pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1391(a)(1) and (2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to 

the claims occurred within the Eastern District of Virginia, Norfolk Division.  

FACTS 
Introduction 

15. Liberty is a franchisor of Liberty Tax Service® income tax preparation service 

centers located throughout the United States.   

16. Liberty owns the federally-registered Liberty Tax Service® trademarks (trademark 

serial number 76066158), service marks, logos and derivations thereof, as well as the distinctive 

and well-known Liberty Tax Service® system, which sells income tax preparation and filing 

services and products to the public under the Marks.   

17. SiempreTax owns the federally-registered SiempreTax® trademarks (trademark 

serial number 86386202), service marks, logos and derivations thereof, as well as the distinctive 

and well-known SiempreTax® system, which sells income tax preparation and filing services and 

products to the public under the Marks.   

18. Liberty advertises and promotes the Marks throughout the United States, and has 

spent substantial time and money to maintain and improve its franchise system, including, inter 

alia: (1) maintaining and developing service and product quality; (2) developing uniform designs 

and markings for their services; and (4) licensing trademarks and other proprietary information 

to, and training franchisees, including Aime and Wolf.   
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19. Liberty grants licenses to franchisees to use the Marks and participate in its 

confidential and proprietary business system pursuant to written franchise agreements, which are 

reasonably and carefully tailored to protect Liberty’s valuable trade secrets, reputation, goodwill, 

and other legitimate business interests.   

20. As a result of these efforts and expenditures, the Marks have become associated in 

the minds of consumers with uniform goods and services of consistently high quality, provided 

only by persons following Liberty’s approved sales, operating methods and procedures. 

The Franchise Locations 

21. Aime, together with Wolf by way of assumption of the Franchise Agreements, is 

a former franchisee of Liberty pursuant to nine (9) franchise agreements for territories in New 

York known as NY4141, NY0172, NY5303, NY1084, NY5215, NY1576 (the “Liberty 

Franchises”) and NY0177, NY1578, and NY1089 (the “SiempreTax Franchises”) (the Liberty 

Franchises and the SiempreTax Franchises are together referred to as the “Franchises” or 

“Franchise Locations”).   

22. Pursuant to the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf received the license and 

right to operate Liberty Tax Service® and SiempreTax® franchises using the Marks and Liberty’s 

business system in New York, Queens, Hempstead, and Woodmere, NY. 

23. Liberty provided Aime and Wolf with training in franchise operation, marketing, 

1 A copy of the NY414 Franchise Agreement  is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
2 A copy of the NY017 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
3 A copy of the NY530 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
4 A copy of the  NY108 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 
5 A copy of the NY521 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 
6 A copy of  the NY521 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit F.
7 A copy of the NY017 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit G. 
8 A copy of the NY157 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit H. 
9 A copy of the NY108 Franchise Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit I.
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advertising, sales, and business systems. Aime and Wolf also received a confidential operating, 

marketing, and advertising materials, which are not available to anyone who is not part of 

Liberty’s business system.   

The Franchise Agreements 

24. With one immaterial exception, the Franchise Agreements contain identical terms, 

conditions, and provisions, which governed Aime’s and Wolf’s ownership and operation of the 

Franchise Locations.   

25. Section 6(b) of the Franchise Agreements provides that the Marks belong solely 

to Liberty, and that Defendants’ use of the Marks was entirely dependent upon their compliance 

with the terms of the Franchise Agreements.   

26. Under Section 6(w) of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf were required 

to maintain a valid Electronic Filing Identification Number (“EFIN”) issued from the Internal 

Revenue Service (“IRS”) at all times. 

27. Pursuant to Section 8(b)(ix) of the Franchise Agreements, Liberty could terminate 

the Franchise Agreements without notice or opportunity to cure in the event that Aime’s and/or 

Wolf’s EFIN was suspended for any reason. 

28. Pursuant to Sections 8(b)(iii), (vii), (x), and (xi) of the Franchise Agreements, 

other grounds for termination included, inter alia, material violation of any law, ordinance, rule, 

or regulation; three or more violations of the Franchise Agreements; falsification of financial 

data or reports; violation of other agreements with Liberty; and failure to pay amounts owed.  

29. Section 9 of the Franchise Agreements sets forth Aime’s and Wolf’s post-

termination obligations which include, inter alia, the obligation to: cease use of any 

identification with the Marks; assign all phone numbers used in connection with the operation of 

the Franchise Locations to Liberty; pay to Liberty all debts due and owing; assign to Liberty 
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interest in any leases; deliver all customer lists, tax returns, files, and records; return Liberty’s 

confidential operations manual; and adhere to the Franchise Agreements’ post-termination non-

competition and non-solicitation covenants.   

30. Pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf agreed to 

refrain from preparing or electronically filing income tax returns and offering financial products 

within 25 miles of each of the Franchise Locations for two years following the termination of 

said Agreements.   

31. Pursuant to Sections 12(a) and (c) of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf 

agreed to refrain from interfering with or attempting to interfere with any of the business 

relationships or advantages of Liberty and the Marks, and from using for their benefit any 

confidential information from Liberty’s proprietary manuals and business system, following 

termination of the Franchise Agreements. 

32. Pursuant to Section 12 of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf 

acknowledged that information provided by Liberty to them regarding, among other things, 

Liberty’s Marks, methods, techniques, formats, specifications, procedures, information, systems, 

and customer and marketing information was confidential, and was to be used only in connection 

with the operation of the Franchise Locations.  

33. Pursuant to Section 17(a) of each of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf 

agreed and acknowledged that Virginia law governs “all claims that in any way relate to or arise 

out of” the Franchise Agreements and/or the dealings between the parties to those Agreements. 

34. Pursuant to Section 17(b) of each of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf 

consented to venue and personal jurisdiction in the Eastern District of Virginia, Norfolk District.   
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35. Section 26 of each of the Franchise Agreements10 contains a personal guaranty 

whereby Aime and Wolf agreed to abide by the terms of all Franchise Agreements including, 

specifically, those pertaining to governing law and forum selection, to make all payments 

specified in the Franchise Agreements, and to pay any promissory notes and other debts owed to 

Liberty.   

The Parties Enter Into a Purchase and Sale Agreement 

36. In or around January 2016, Liberty discovered that the IRS had revoked the EFIN 

being used by Aime and/or Wolf, which constitutes a material breach of the Franchise 

Agreements. 

37. In light of the revocation, on January 21, 2016, Wolf and Aime entered into the 

Purchase and Sale Agreement with Liberty that, among other things, terminated the Franchise 

Agreements and transferred all tangible and intangible assets of the Franchise Locations (the 

“Franchise Assets”) to Liberty (the “Purchase and Sale Agreement”).   

38. Pursuant to Sections 6(e) and (i) of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Aime and 

Wolf promised to provide Liberty with a complete list of all customers of the Franchise 

Locations and relinquish all such customer lists, tax returns, W-2’s, 1099’s, IRS forms, receipts, 

records, and files to Liberty.   

39. Pursuant to Section 6(d) of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Aime and Wolf 

promised to effect the transfer and control of all telephone numbers for the Franchise Locations 

to Liberty.   

40. Under Section 6(g) of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Aime and Wolf agreed 

to seek consent from Lessors of the Franchise Locations to assign such leases to Liberty at 

10 The Guaranty for Liberty Franchise Agreement NY521 appears in Section 23. 
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Liberty’s request.  

41. Section 7 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement provides for Plaintiff’s assumption 

of all obligations arising in connection with the operation of the Franchise Locations following 

the execution of the Purchase and Sale Agreement. 

42. Pursuant to Section 9 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Aime and Wolf agreed 

to abide by the post-termination obligations set forth in the Franchise Agreements.  

43. Pursuant to Section 4, as an accommodation to Aime and Wolfe, in consideration 

of Aime and Wolf’s transfer of all Franchise Assets to Liberty, and contingent upon Aime’s 

receipt of a valid EFIN, the Purchase and Sale Agreement also includes a repurchase provision 

that granted Aime and Wolf the right to repurchase the assets, obligations, and liabilities of the 

Franchise Locations by a date certain (the “Repurchase Provision”). 

44. Pursuant to Section 1 and Section 3 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Liberty 

agreed to pay One Million One Hundred and Seven Thousand Five Hundred and Eighty Dollars 

and Thirty-Six Cents ($1,107,580.36) to Aime, which was first to be applied to reduce Aime’s 

and Wolf’s debt with Liberty, in the event that the Repurchase Provision was not exercised. 

The Multiple, Ongoing Breaches of the Franchise Agreements 

45. Aime, Wolf, and each of the nine Franchise Locations that he owned and operated 

did not have a valid EFIN available for use during the height of the busy 2016 tax season, a 

material breach of Section 6(w) of each of the Franchise Agreements.  As of the date of this 

Amended Complaint, Aime and Wolf still do not possess a valid EFIN and cannot file tax returns 

electronically – the crux of Liberty’s and its franchisees’ business.   

46. Moreover, from 2012 through 2016, Aime and Wolf materially breached various 

material provisions of the Franchise Agreements by inter alia: 

A. Committing acts and omissions that caused their expulsion from the IRS’s 
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EFIN program, and/or caused their EFIN number to be revoked; 

B. Failing to properly oversee employees and/or independent contractors 
who, upon information and belief, converted funds and property to the 
detriment of Liberty. 

47. Upon information and belief, Aime and Wolf have refused to return, and plan to 

use, Liberty’s confidential information and Marks to compete, in direct violation of Sections 

8(b), 9, and 10(b) of the Franchise Agreements, as well as the Purchase and Sale Agreement. 

48. Aime and Wolf also refuse to assign to Liberty telephone numbers associated by 

customers with the Franchise Locations; return the files, and records related to the Franchised 

Business, including customer lists; and return Liberty’s confidential operation manuals, all in 

further violation of Section 9 of each of the Franchise Agreements. 

49. Defendants have also refused to transfer the Franchise Assets to Liberty and 

assign the leases, in direct violation of Paragraph 1 and Paragraph 6(g) of the Purchase and Sale 

Agreement. 

50. In fact, on June 17, 2016, Aime was caught removing Franchise Assets, including 

computers, furniture, signage, files, Liberty’s bank notes and checks and such from at least two 

Franchise Locations, a direct violation of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and the Franchise 

Agreements. 

51. Moreover, after the date this litigation was filed, Defendants filed suit against 

Liberty in the Supreme Court of New York, Queens County, in direct violation of the forum 

selection clause in the Franchise Agreements. 

AS AND FOR A FIRST COUNT 
Breach of the Franchise Agreements 

52. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 
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53. The Franchise Agreements, to which Aime, Wolf and Liberty are parties, are 

valid and enforceable.  

54. The Assignment Agreement and Guaranty Agreement render Wolf liable for all 

obligations in the Franchise Agreements, Aime personally and individually liable for all 

obligations in the Franchise Agreements, and further render Wolf and Aime liable for all monies 

due to Liberty relating to the franchise relationship, including, but not limited to monies 

advanced to Wolf and Aime to develop and operate the Franchise Locations.  

55. The Franchise Agreements allow Liberty to terminate Aime’s and Wolf’s 

franchise rights should he and it fail to comply with the contractual obligations thereunder.  

56. The IRS’s suspension of Aime’s EFIN, which constitutes a material breach of the 

Franchise Agreements, provided a basis for immediate termination of the Franchise Agreements 

with no opportunity to cure pursuant to Section 9 thereunder. 

57. Following this material breach, Aime, Wolf, and Liberty entered into the Purchase 

and Sale Agreement, whereby the Franchise Agreements were terminated.    

58. By way of the following additional acts and omissions prior to, and following the 

termination of the Franchise Agreements and execution of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, 

Aime and Wolf materially breached said Agreements, inter alia, by: 

A. Failing to secure a valid EFIN; 

B. Using the Marks without Liberty’s permission and with the intent to 
compete with Liberty and cause confusion or mistake and/or to deceive 
the public;  

C. Failing to assign the telephone number and listing used by the Franchise 
Locations to Liberty;  

D. Refusing to return the files and records, including customer lists, related to 
the operation of the Franchised Locations to Liberty;  

E. Refusing to assign leases for the Franchise Locations to Liberty; 
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F. Refusing to return the Franchise Assets to Liberty; and 

G. Failing to return Liberty’s confidential operations manual. 

59. Aime and Wolf have indicated their intent to operate a competing tax preparation 

business, and, upon information and belief, plan to use Liberty’s confidential information or 

already are using Liberty’s confidential information to operate a competing tax business in 

violation of the non-competition provisions of the Franchise Agreements.  

60. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches, Liberty has incurred, and will 

continue to incur substantial losses, fees, and expenses for which Aime is liable. 

AS AND FOR A SECOND COUNT 
Breach of the Purchase and Sale Agreement

61. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

62. The Purchase and Sale Agreement, to which Aime, Wolf, and Liberty are parties, 

is valid and enforceable.  

63. Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, Aime and Wolf were obligated to: 

A. Provide Liberty with all Franchise Assets, including a complete list of all 
customers of the Franchise Locations and relinquish all such customer 
lists, tax returns, W-2’s, 1099’s, tax return files, IRS forms, receipts, 
records, and files; 

B. Effect the transfer and control of all telephone numbers for the Franchise 
Locations to Liberty;   

C. Assign to Liberty the Franchise Location leases; and 

D. Abide by the post-termination obligations set forth in the Franchise 
Agreements.  

64. Aime and Wolf breached the Purchase and Sale Agreement by, inter alia: 

A. Failing to provide Liberty with Franchise Assets and client lists, tax 
returns, W-2’s, 1099’s, tax return files, IRS forms, receipts, records, and 
files; 
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B. Refusing to effect the transfer and control of the Franchise Locations’ 
telephone numbers; 

C. Refusing to assign to Liberty all or some Franchise Location leases; and 

D. Failing to abide by the post-termination obligations under the Franchise 
Agreements, including the covenants against competition therein. 

65. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches, Liberty has incurred 

substantial losses, fees, and expenses for which Aime and Wolf are liable. 

AS AND FOR A THIRD COUNT 
Breach of Covenant Not to Compete 

66. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

67. Pursuant to the Franchise Agreements and the Purchase and Sale Agreement, 

Aime and Wolf agreed to refrain from competing with Liberty upon the termination of their 

franchise rights.  

68. Under the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf agreed for a period of two (2) 

years from the termination of the Franchise Agreements to refrain from engaging in income tax 

preparation and/or filing services within twenty-five miles of any Franchise Location.   

69. Aime and Wolf breached the Franchise Agreements and the Purchase and Sale 

Agreement by refusing to provide Liberty with client lists, tax returns, W-2’s, 1099’s, tax return 

files, IRS forms, receipts, records, client checks and files; refusing to effect the transfer and 

control of the Franchise Locations’ telephone numbers; and refusing to assign to Liberty all or 

some Franchise Location leases, all for the purpose of operating a competing business in 

violation of the post-termination obligations under the Franchise Agreements, including the 

covenants against competition therein. 

70. Additionally, by virtue of the foregoing, and by maintaining control of the 
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franchise locations branded as Liberty locations, Aime and Wolf have continued to engage in a 

business that sells similar services as Liberty, have improperly used and misappropriated the 

Marks, and have represented such services to be owned and promoted by Liberty, at the 

Franchise Locations.  

71. Upon information and belief, and based on the foregoing, Aime and Wolf are 

utilizing Liberty’s confidential system and materials for the purpose of competing with Liberty, 

in direct violation of the Franchise Agreements and the Purchase and Sale Agreement. 

72. Liberty has a legitimate business interest in its valuable confidential business 

information, substantial business relationships with existing and prospective customers, and the 

goodwill associated with the Marks in the territories governed by the Franchise Agreements. 

73. As a result of Aime’s and Wolf’s operation of a directly competitive business, 

Liberty has suffered irreparable harm and will continue to suffer irreparable harm. 

74. Liberty has no adequate remedy at law to protect its substantial business and 

property rights, and the damage from Aime’s and Wolf’s activities is considerable and 

continuing and thus not capable of ascertainment at this time. 

75. The non-compete provisions in the Franchise Agreements are reasonably 

necessary to protect Liberty’s legitimate business interests. 

76. As a result of Aime’s and Wolf’s actions, Liberty has suffered and continues to 

suffer irreparable injury, and has incurred and continues to incur monetary damage for which 

Aime and Wolf are liable. 

AS AND FOR A FOURTH COUNT 
Federal Trademark Infringement 

77. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 
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78. Following the termination of the Franchise Agreements, each Defendant has 

continued to identify all or some of the Franchise Locations as Liberty Tax Service® and 

SiempreTax® franchises, and continues to display the Marks at these Franchise Locations.  

Defendants’ conduct is infringing on the trademark rights owned by Liberty, and violates Section 

32(1) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1). 

79. Through this display of the Marks, Defendants have profited, and Liberty has 

been damaged. 

80. The acts of Defendants were and are being done knowingly and intentionally to 

cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive. 

81. As a result, Liberty has suffered and continues to suffer irreparable injury, and has 

incurred and continues to incur monetary damage in an amount to be determined at trial. 

AS AND FOR A FIFTH COUNT 
False Designation and Misrepresentation of Origin 

82. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

83. The unlawful conduct of Defendants constitutes false designation of origin and 

misrepresentation in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

84. By reason of the foregoing, Liberty has suffered damages to the value of the 

Marks and to customer goodwill. 

85. The acts of Defendants were and are being done knowingly and intentionally to 

cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive. 

86. As a result, Liberty has suffered and continues to suffer irreparable injury, and has 

incurred and continues to incur monetary damage in an amount to be determined at trial. 
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AS AND FOR A SIXTH COUNT 
Federal Trademark Dilution 

87. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

88. The Marks are famous trademarks under Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(c). 

89. The actions and conduct of Defendants, as set forth above, constitute dilution of 

the famous Marks under Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c). 

90. Liberty is entitled to injunctive relief under Section 43(c)(1) of the Lanham Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(1). 

91. By reason of the foregoing, Liberty has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

irreparable damage to reputation and goodwill for which they have no adequate remedy at law. 

92. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Liberty is entitled to recover damages from 

Defendants caused by their unlawful use of the Marks. 

AS AND FOR A SEVENTH COUNT 
Misappropriation of Trade Secrets 

93. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

94. Liberty owns numerous trade secrets, including but not limited to, confidential 

manuals, marketing strategies, and marketing programs.  During the operation of the Franchise 

Locations, Liberty’s trade secrets were disclosed to Defendants for the sole purpose of operating 

the Franchise Locations. 

95. Liberty has taken extensive measures to preserve these trade secrets for the 

purpose of maintaining its competitive advantage in the marketplace.  The Franchise Agreements 
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executed by Aime and assigned to Wolf explicitly provide for the protection of such trade 

secrets. 

96. Despite the extensive efforts taken by Liberty to guard such trade secrets, 

including explicit directives within the Franchise Agreements stating the same, Defendants have 

misappropriated Liberty’s trade secrets in an attempt to gain a competitive advantage, for their 

own personal financial gain, and in clear violation of the law and Franchise Agreements, by 

maintaining control of the franchise locations branded as Liberty locations, by engaging in a 

business that sells similar services as Liberty, by improperly using and misappropriating the 

Marks, and by representing that their services are owned and promoted by Liberty, at the 

Franchise Locations.  

97. As a result, Liberty has suffered damages arising out of the unlawful 

misappropriation of its trade secrets; therefore Defendants are liable to Liberty for damages. 

AS AND FOR A EIGHTH COUNT 
Request for Preliminary Injunction 

98. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

99. Liberty’s application for injunctive relief is authorized by Fed. R. Civ. P. 65. 

100. Pursuant to Section 10(h) of the Franchise Agreements, Aime and Wolf 

acknowledged and agreed that “Liberty is entitled to a temporary restraining order, temporary 

and/or permanent injunction” for breach of any of the post termination obligations of the 

Franchise Agreements. 

101. Defendants’ refusal to return confidential and proprietary information, assign the 

leases, transfer the Franchise Assets to Liberty and use of the Marks which have long been 

protected by Liberty as trade secrets - a clear violation of the law and the express terms of the 
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Franchise Agreements and the Purchase and Sale Agreement - constitutes irreparable harm. 

102. For the foregoing reasons, Liberty respectfully requests that the Court grant the 

following injunctive relief: 

A. Enjoin each Defendant from continuing to operate a tax preparation 
business or using and/or displaying the Marks without Liberty’s consent;  

B. Enjoin each Defendant from using the Marks or any confusingly similar 
name, device, mark, service mark, trademark, trade name, slogan or 
symbol used in connection with any Liberty Tax Service® or SiempreTax®

franchise, including any reproduction, counterfeit copy, variation, 
emulation, or colorable imitation thereof which is likely to cause 
confusion or mistake or deceive the public;  

C. Order each Defendant to return to Liberty, at their own expense, all 
printed materials provided by Liberty to Defendants, including, without 
limitation, all manuals, customer lists, advertising material, stationery and 
printed forms and all other matters relating to the operation of the 
Franchise and/or bearing the Marks;  

D. Order each Defendant to assign all leases for the Franchise Locations and 
corresponding telephone numbers to Liberty; 

E. Enjoin each Defendant from owning, maintaining, engaging in, or having 
any interest in any other business which sells any products similar to those 
sold as part of the Liberty Tax Service® and/or SiempreTax® system 
within twenty-five (25) miles of any Franchise Location for two (2) years;  

F. Enjoin each Defendant from employing or seeking to employ any person 
who is employed by Liberty or any other Liberty franchisee, or otherwise 
induce or seek to induce such person to leave his or her employment;  

G. Enjoin each Defendant from using any confidential information from 
manuals or system provided by Liberty;  

H. Enjoin each Defendant from diverting or attempting to divert any 
customer or business from Liberty or solicit or endeavor to obtain the 
business of any person who shall have been a customer of any of the 
Franchise Locations. 

103. Liberty has a high likelihood of success on the merits on their claims, and it is 

probable that they will recover from Defendants, and Defendants, each and collectively, are 
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openly and actively, materially breaching the express terms of the valid and enforceable 

Franchise Agreements. 

104. The harm that will result if the preliminary injunction is not issued is irreparable 

because Defendants continue to materially breach the express terms of the valid enforceable 

Franchise Agreements and Purchase and Sale Agreement, which will cause irreparable and 

irreversible harm to the goodwill and reputation that Liberty has spent significant time and 

money establishing. 

105. Liberty has no adequate remedy at law because each Defendant refuses to cease 

their material breaches of express terms in the Franchise Agreements.   

106. Aime and Wolf waived any requirement that Liberty post bond in Section 10(g) 

of the Franchise Agreement. 

107. The injury to Liberty outweighs any injury that would be sustained by Defendants 

collectively, and each of them, as a result of the requested injunctive relief. 

108. Injunctive relief will not adversely affect the public interest. 

109. Defendants have been or are being served with notice of this application for 

injunctive relief. 

AS AND FOR A NINTH COUNT 
Request for Permanent Injunction

110. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

111. After a trial on the merits or a final judgment, Liberty asks the Court to convert 

any preliminary injunction as specified above into a permanent injunction against Defendants 

collectively, and each of them.  

112. Liberty has joined all indispensable parties pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 19. 
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AS AND FOR A TENTH COUNT 
Conversion

113. Liberty incorporates herein by reference the preceding Paragraphs as if set forth 

herein verbatim. 

114. As set forth above, Defendants are obligated to consent to and effectuate the 

assignment of certain Franchise Location leases and telephone numbers to Liberty, and to return 

all customer lists, returns, and records, all confidential materials, and all Franchise Assets to 

Liberty.  

115. As such, Liberty has a right to possess certain Franchise Leases and associated 

telephone numbers, the Franchise Assets, confidential materials provided to Defendants, and 

customer lists, records, returns, and the like.   

116. Defendants have constructive and physical possession/dominion and control over, 

and have intentionally interfered with certain Franchise Leases and associated telephone 

numbers, the Franchise Assets, confidential materials provided to Defendants, and customer lists, 

records, files, and the like. 

117. Defendants’ interference has deprived Liberty of possession and use of the 

personal property in question. 

118. As a result, Liberty has suffered damages arising out of such unlawful dominion 

and control; therefore Defendants are liable to Liberty for damages. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Liberty prays for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

1. For the following injunctive relief: 

A. Enjoin each Defendant from continuing to operate a tax preparation 
business or using and/or displaying the Marks without Liberty’s consent;  
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B. Enjoin each Defendant from using the Marks or any confusingly similar 
name, device, mark, service mark, trademark, trade name, slogan or 
symbol used in connection with any Liberty Tax Service® or SiempreTax®

franchise, including any reproduction, counterfeit copy, variation, 
emulation, or colorable imitation thereof which is likely to cause 
confusion or mistake or deceive the public;  

C. Order each Defendant to return to Liberty, at their own expense, all 
printed materials provided by Liberty to Defendants, including, without 
limitation, all manuals, customer lists, advertising material, stationery and 
printed forms and all other matters relating to the operation of the 
Franchise and/or bearing the Marks;  

D. Order each Defendant to assign all leases for the Franchise Locations and 
corresponding telephone numbers to Liberty; 

E. Enjoin each Defendant from owning, maintaining, engaging in, or having 
any interest in any other business which sells any products similar to those 
sold as part of the Liberty Tax Service® and/or SiempreTax® system 
within twenty-five (25) miles of any Franchise Location for two (2) years;  

F. Enjoin each Defendant from employing or seeking to employ any person 
who is employed by Liberty or any other Liberty franchisee, or otherwise 
induce or seek to induce such person to leave his or her employment;  

G. Enjoin each Defendant from using any confidential information from 
manuals or system provided by Liberty;  

H. Enjoin each Defendant from diverting or attempting to divert any 
customer or business from Liberty or solicit or endeavor to obtain the 
business of any person who shall have been a customer of any of the 
Franchise Locations. 

2. For an award of to be determined by the trier of fact from Aime and Wolf for fees 
resulting from the breach of each of the Franchise Agreements; and 

3. For an award of an amount equal to three (3) times the earnings and profits 
obtained by Defendants from their post-expiration wrongful infringement of the Marks, as well 
as from Defendants’ other, multiple wrongful acts as authorized by the Lanham Act; and 

4. For an award of prejudgment interest in accordance with § 35 of the Lanham Act, 
15 U.S.C. § 1117; and  

5. For Liberty’s costs, disbursements, costs of investigation and attorneys’ fees 
incurred in this action pursuant to the Franchise Agreements, and as authorized by the Lanham 
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Act; and  

6. For post-judgment interest; and 

7. For such other relief as the Court deems just and appropriate. 

Dated: June 22, 2016

GORDON & REES LLP
Attorneys for Liberty JTH Tax, Inc. d/b/a Liberty Tax 
Service and SiempreTax, LLC  

By:    /s/O’Kelly E. McWilliams III 
Peter G. Siachos, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
O’Kelly E. McWilliams III, Esq. (VSB: 36137) 
Patrick K. Burns, Esq. (VSB: 80188) 

1300 I Street, NW, Suite 825 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
T: (202) 399-1009 
F: (202) 800-2999 
E: omcwilliams@gordonrees.com 
E: pburns@gordonrees.com 

8011115/28548348v.1 
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UNI’I’El) Sl’AI’ES DISTRICT (‘OUR’[
EASTERN I)ISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

Norfolk Division

I. INC. d/b/a IA flIiR’I’Y TAX SI RVICI and VERIFICATION
SIEMPRILTAX, LLC.

Case No: 2:! 6-cv-270 (H(’M)
Liberty.

(iRIXiORY AIMI: WOLF VENTURES. INC.
d/b/a WOLF I N’FERPRISES: A IME
CONSULIIN( , L[X’ and AIMF
CONSULTING, INC..

Del èndants.

COMMONWEALTh OF VIRGINIA

CITY OF VIRGINIA I3EACI I

Margie Finneran, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

I am a Company Store Area Developer br JTH Tax, Inc. (I/b/a Liberty Tax Service
(“Liberty lax’’), parent company to S iemprelax, LU’. I have read the loregoing Veit lied
Amended (‘01 tip I ai Ut and know the contents thereof and state tI uit I lie al legal ions are I rue. I base
ib s yen ii cab i (Iii on iiiy ow ii knowledge. except as to i natters therein stated to be all cued din in
in I oil nat ion a rid bel i ci and as to those matters, I he Ii eve t hem to be true. TI te grounds 01 my
knowledge, intlirniation and belief are derived ftom my position as Liberty Tax’s (‘ompany
Store Area Developer, my personal involvement in the events underlying this litigation. arid
general investigal ion of the litets and circumstances described in the Verilied Amended
CornplainL including, without Ii mital ion. lily review o I’ LiIerl y Tax’s and S ieinpreTax •s records,
and conversations with Liberty ‘lax’s and SiempreTax ‘s employees.

tUçc
‘ \largie Finneran
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City Virginia Beach
Commonwealth of Virginia

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn be5pre me this day of
June,2OlGby Margie Finneran.

Notary Public

Registration number: 273419
IIMy commission expires: July 31, 2018

MV °t
COMMISSION0 NUMBER ::
273419 .:ê$

1l111111 4fl
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